I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err by dismissing all tort claims based on the

economic loss rule ( CP 273, ¶ 1; CP 274)? 

2. Did the trial court err by dismissing the negligence and negligent

misrepresentation by omission ( lack of informed consent) claims

CP 273, ¶ 1; CP 274)? 

3. Did the trial court err by dismissing Ms. Hendrickson' s reckless

breach of ( bailment) contract claim and attendant emotional

distress damages ( CP 273, ¶¶ 2 -3; CP 274)? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Julie Hendrickson, a Commander in the United States Navy, 

serving as a military nurse ( CP 107 if 1), sued Tender Care Animal

Hospital Corporation d/ b /a Ridgetop Animal Hospital and veterinarian Dr. 

Kristen T. Cage for reckless breach of (bailment) contract, professional

negligence, and negligent misrepresentation /lack of informed consent — all

pertaining to her four - year -old, Golden Retriever mix named Bear

photographs: CP 116 -117), who died from gastric dilatation ( bloat) 

shortly after being discharged from Defendants' hospital. On this date, 

Ms. Hendrickson left Bear for an elective neuter and microchip

implantation. CP 110 ¶ 8. The neutering surgery was uneventful, but
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substantial vomiting complicated postoperative recovery. Ms. 

Hendrickson was told by an employee, " I' ve never seen a dog throw up as

much as he has." CP 110 ¶ 8. For this, Bear received a Reglan injection

and Ms. Hendrickson was told that, after the injection, " he is much better

now." CP 110 If 8. 

Just prior to Bear' s discharge that evening, an abdominal

radiograph was made showing significant gastric dilatation. Even the chart

notes confinned a diagnosis of bloat, yet no steps were taken to

decompress Bear' s stomach, much less discuss alternatives to treatment

with Ms. Hendrickson. " A dilated stomach, even without torsion, is an

emergent and life threatening situation that requires immediate response

when presented to a veterinarian." CP 122 ( Dr. Kern' s expert opinion). 

Indeed, from moment of intake to moment of discharge, not one

veterinarian ever spoke to Ms. Hendrickson ( CP 111: 11 -12), nor did any

person seek consent from Ms. Hendrickson for the x -ray taken by Dr. 

Cage, nor did any person explain the risks associated with discharging

Bear in his current condition ( CP 112 ¶ 12), nor did any person discuss

alternative treatment ( e. g., orogastric tube placement, trocharization, 

cannula placement) — despite Ms. Hendrickson' s attempt to confirm that a

veterinarian on -site was aware of Bear' s condition. CP 111: 4 -6. 

Veterinarian Dr. Shannon L. Heath was dismissed with prejudice. CP 59 -61. 
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Instead, Defendants discharged Bear to Ms. Hendrickson bloated

and weak, with slightly pale gums, recommending orally ( through an

inexperienced 22- year -old) that Ms. Hendrickson obtain and administer

Gas -X, take him on short walks once home, and if his condition worsened, 

to go to the emergency hospital. The written discharge sheet said nothing

of the sort. CP 115. Ms. Hendrickson monitored Bear in accordance with

the insufficient information given to her by Ms. Bridgette Pribyl, the 22- 

year -old technician charged with speaking to Ms. Hendrickson while Dr. 

Cage remained, obscurely and anonymously,
2

in the back of the hospital. 

Upon arriving at home, Bear' s condition remained unstable, so Ms. 

Hendrickson called the Animal Emergency and Trauma Center ( "AETC ") 

for advice. While on the phone with AETC, Bear lay down in her

driveway and did not move, even after being leashed. She attempted to

guide him to her car, without success, so she carried Bear. Noting he

stopped breathing and had a weak, rapid pulse, she began CPR and, with a

neighbor' s assistance, drove to AETC. Over the long drive, she continued

performing CPR. CP 111 If 10, CP 112 IF 11. 

Bear arrived at AETC in respiratory and cardiac arrest. Despite

AETC' s efforts, Bear could not be resuscitated. As a result of the alleged

2 Ms. Hendrickson did not even know Dr. Cage had attended Bear since no veterinarian
made her or his presence known. 
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misconduct of the Defendants, Ms. Hendrickson lost the intrinsic value of

Bear, as well as the loss of his utility, companionship, love, affection, and

solace. Ms. Hendrickson suffered profound emotional distress arising

from watching Bear die, trying to save his life to no avail, and being lost, 

numb, and exhausted in the aftermath of the tragedy. CP 112 -13 ¶ 1113- 14. 

Had she been informed of the risks of discharge as instructed, she

would have insisted upon immediate decompression or gone straight to an

emergency room. CP 1121112. 

Ms. Hendrickson retained board - certified, historically seven -state

licensed, surgeon Douglas A. Kern, D.V.M., M.S. After reviewing

discovery and the veterinary records, he opined, with reasonable medical

certainty and on a more probable than not basis, that the Defendants' acts

and omissions " clearly breached the standard of care," " certainly led to his

death," and that the inactions " constitute recklessness and a deliberate

indifference to the information gathered by their radiographs and

evaluations." CP 121 -123. 

On May 8, 2009, the Hon. Leila Mills heard Defendants' motion

for summary judgment dismissal. The oral ruling granting relief in part by

applying the economic loss rule to dismiss all tort and emotional distress

claims, but denying the request to fix damages at a pretended market or

replacement value of less than $ 450 ( noting that fact issues existed, and
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relying on Sherman v. Kissinger, 146 Wash.App. 855 ( I, 2008)), was

memorialized in a written order on May 22, 2009, and which dismissed

with prejudice: 

1. All claims sounding in tort. 

2. All claims for emotional distress damages. 

3. Plaintiff' s claim for reckless breach of bailment. 

CP 272 -73. This ruling left unscathed Ms. Hendrickson' s single claim for

non - reckless breach of (bailment) contract. CP 5. At the same time, the

court denied Ms. Hendrickson' s motion for reconsideration. CP 274. 

Resultantly, only the contract claim remained with emotional distress

damages ( as well as any other damages inconsistent with the economic

loss rule) eliminated. Judge Mills decided Defendants' motion while the

matter was in MAR, though the arbitration had not yet taken place. 

Prior to arbitration, Ms. Hendrickson filed a motion for voluntary

partial dismissal without prejudice of those claims not dismissed with

prejudice on summary judgment ( viz., non - reckless breach of (bailment) 

contract). On Sept. 18, 2009, over Defendants' objection, Judge Jeanette

Dalton granted Ms. Hendrickson' s motion. CP 275 -276. Ms. Hendrickson

filed the Notice ofAppeal that same day, seeking review not of the claims

voluntarily dismissed, but those involuntarily dismissed on summary

judgment. CP 277 -281. 
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The Appellate Court required that Ms. Hendrickson brief the

question of appealability as of right. On Dec. 11, 2009, Judges Armstrong, 

Van Deren, and Penoyar modified Comm. Schmidt' s Oct. 8, 2009 ruling

to permit the direct appeal to proceed. Defendants did not cross - appeal. 

III. ARGUMENT

This court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. Any

findings of fact are superfluous and not considered on appeal. Sherman v. 

Kissinger, 146 Wash.App. 855, 864 fn. 3 ( I, 2008), as amended. 

A. Economic Loss Rule. 

The economic loss rule marks the fundamental boundary
between the law of contracts, which is designed to enforce

expectations created by agreement, and the law of torts, 
which is designed to protect citizens and their property by
imposing a reasonable duty of care on others. 

Bershauer /Phillips Construction Co. v. Seattle School District No. 1, 124

Wn.2d 816, 821 ( 1994). Washington courts have applied the economic

loss rule to negligent misrepresentation claims against home sellers and

builder- vendors,
3

defective product claims,
4

and negligent

3
Alejandre v Bull, 159 Wn.2d 674, 686 -87 ( 2007); Berschauer /Phillips Constr. Co. v. 

Seattle Sch Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 827 -28, ( 1994); Griffith v. Centex Real Estate

Corp., 93 Wash.App. 202, 211- 13 ( 1998). 

4 Wash. Water Power Co. v. Gravbar Elec. Co., 112 Wn.2d 847, 857 -67 ( 1989); Hofstee
v. Dow, 109 Wash.App. 537, 542 -46 ( 2001); Staton Hills Winery Co. v. Collons, 96
Wash. App. 590, 593 -603 ( 1999). 

6



construction /design claims against architects, structural engineers, project

inspectors and others in the building industry.
5

Other than claims made against professionals in the building

industry — professionals whose negligence leads to a defective tangible

product — after diligent search, Ms. Hendrickson cannot find a case where

Washington appellate courts have invoked the economic loss rule as a bar

to claims for healing arts negligence or malpractice. The contracts here did

not involve sales of goods or realty or construction services. Rather, they

concerned professional services governed by independent legal and

fiduciary duties and a special relationship. Further, veterinarians who treat

an extant companion animal, brought to them for care, differ from the

design professionals" in Berschauer, whose services pertained to the

construction of realty that did not previously exist. 

The economic loss rule only applies to damages that are purely

economic in character. See Alejandre v. Bull, 159 Wn.2d 674 ( 2007): 

Berschauer /Phillips, 124 Wn.2d at 821 -28; Atherton Condo. Apartment- Owners Ass' n
Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 526 -27, 533 -34 ( 1990); Stuart v. 

Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc., 109 Wn.2d 406, 417 -22 ( 1987). 

6
Alejandre appears confined to the construction industry. Id., at 828 ( rejecting

application of Restatement (2 "
d) 

of Torts § 552 to allow negligent misrepresentation claim

by general contractor against design professional and aligning with cases that all dealt
with construction defect claims, at 826 ( see Atherton [ suit against builder - vendor, 

architect, and inspector for construction defect claims by owners of condominium
complex]; Stuart [negligent construction claim by condo homeowners association against
builder- vendor for defects in private decks and walkways]). 

7



In short, the purpose of the economic loss rule is to bar

recovery for alleged breach of tort duties where a

contractual relationship exists and the losses are economic
losses ... the key inquiry is the nature of the loss and the
manner in which it occurs, i. e., are the losses economic

losses, with economic losses distinguished from personal

injury or injury to other property... . 

The same fundamental approach applies to products

liability claims governed by the Washington Product
Liability Actions Act, chapter 7. 72 RCW ( WPLA). ... 

Rather, the WPLA " confines recovery to physical harm of
persons and property and leaves economic loss, standing
alone, to the Uniform Commercial Code." 

Id., at 683 -684 ( quoting Touchet Valley Grain Growers, Inc. v. Opp & 

Seibold Gen. Constr., Inc., 119 Wn.2d 334, 351 ( 1992)). Any losses

suffered as a result of veterinary malpractice are not purely " economic" in

character, as the term is understood by the Supreme Court. That is, to

mean " commercial loss," reserved for " resolving purely commercial

disputes" and distinguished " from an injury to the plaintiff' s person or

property ( property other than the product itself), the type of injury on

which a products liability suit usually is founded." Id., at 695 ( Chambers, 

J., concurring)( quoting Judge Posner in Miller v. U.S. Steel Corp., 902

F.2d 573, 574 ( 7th Cir.1990)). These are the precise types of injuries

suffered by Ms. Hendrickson ( i. e., personal and property). 

The performance of an elective neuter, implantation of a

microchip, and post - operative monitoring was decidedly not a " purely
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commercial dispute." Indeed, the type of contract between Ms. 

Hendrickson and the Defendants was fundamentally non - economic, in the

sense that Bear was not kept as a commercially gainful tool or profit - 

bearing item, damaged inventory or equipment belonging to a retailer or

wholesaler. As with most transactions involving veterinarians, companion

animals receive treatment because guardians regard them as family

members, not as sources of income. Alejandre notes that " recovery is

confined to contract to ensure that the allocation of risk and the

determination of potential future liability is based on what the parties

bargained for in the contract." Id., at 868. Here, no such allocation, 

determination, or bargain was made. The parties never negotiated

remedies for contract breach, orally or in writing. The consent to treatment

form does not trigger the economic loss rule in that it does not attempt to

limit remedies arising from mistreatment of bloat and wrongful discharge, 

or even address the risk occasioned in this matter. CP 152. 

Moreover, damages resulting from veterinary malpractice, aside

from the emotional distress claim for reckless breach of contract, are more

properly remediable in tort, not in contract. Id., at 681 ( the economic loss

rule is a " device used to classify damages for which a remedy in tort or

contract is deemed permissible, but are more properly remediable only in

contract. ") ( citations omitted, emphasis added); see also Sherman v. 
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Kissinger, 146 Wash.App. 855 ( I, 2008) ( providing for tort remedies

related to veterinary malpractice in death of companion canine). 

In the end: 

The key inquiry is the nature of the loss and the manner in
which it occurs, i. e., are the losses economic losses, with

economic losses distinguished from personal injury or
injury to other property. If the claimed loss is an

economic Loss, and no exception applies to the economic

loss rule, then the parties will be limited to contractual

remedies. 

Id., at 684 ( emphasis added). Such exceptions include ( 1) independent

legal duty and ( 2) special relationship. But the exceptions are not needed, 

since the rule does not apply where ( 3) Bear is " property" not constituting

an " economic loss." 

L Independent Legal Duty. 

In medical malpractice case law, contract around tort duties

violates public policy. Vodopest v. MacGregor, 128 Wn.2d 840, 861 -62

1996). Vodopest holds that pre - injury exculpatory clauses for negligence

are unenforceable in the context of medical research on grounds of public

policy. It is a legal maxim that a contract made in violation of a statute is

void. Golberg v. Sanglier, 27 Wash. App. 179 ( 1980) ( courts will not

enforce illegal contracts). Equally recognized is that a party may not

exempt itself from a duty imposed on him or her by law, particularly

where the duty benefits the public. 57 Am.Jur.2d Negligence § 57. While
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the Defendants in this case have not asserted that any exculpatory clause

applies, invoking the economic loss rule practically obliterates the tort of

negligence. In this regard, the above doctrines are judicious here. 

Furthermore, Washington courts have repeatedly adopted the sentiment of

Restatement ( 2 "") of Contracts § 195 ( 1991), applying public policy to

invalidate contract terms attempting to utilize pre -event release language

for intentional and reckless injury. 

In Nat' l Union Ins. Co. v. Puget Power, 94 Wash.App. 163 ( I, 

1999), the court refused to apply the economic loss rule where the duties

arose by statute or regulation and not by contract. The court stated: 

Moreover, National Union' s claims against Puget Power are

for breaches of statutory and regulatory duties independent
of Boeing and Puget Power's contract. Therefore, National
Union's claims are better described as sounding in tort. 

In contrast, tort law is designed to secure the protection of

all citizens from the danger of physical harm to their

persons or to their property. Tort standards are imposed by
law without reference to any private agreement. They
obligate each citizen to exercise reasonable care to avoid

7
Section 195 provides: " A term exempting a party from tort liability for harm caused

intentionally or recklessly is unenforceable on grounds of public policy." See Bly v. 
Rainier Mountaineering, Inc., 30 Wash. App. 571, 573 -74 ( 1981)( noting that, " Absent

some statute to the contrary, the generally accepted rule is that contracts against liability
for negligence are valid except in those cases where a public interest is involved ... or

where the negligent act falls greatly below the standard established by law for the
protection of others against unreasonable risk of harm. "); McCutcheon v. United Homes

Corp., 79 Wn.2d 443 ( 1971) ( embracing Restatement of Contracts § 574

1932)( exculpatory clause for acts falling greatly below standard established by law for
protection of others against unreasonable risk of harm is unenforceable); and Vodopest, 

at 868 ( Talmadge, J., concurring)( calling for formal adoption of Section 195). 
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foreseeable physical harm to others. As such, tort law

primarily is concerned with enforcing standards of conduct. 

Id., at 177 ( quoting Sidney R. Barrett Jr., Recovery of Economic Loss, 40

S. C. L. REV. at 901 -02). It continued: 

And the Legislature specifically authorizes aggrieved

parties to sue electric utilities in tort for violations of state

law or WUTC regulations. See RCW 80. 04.440. Therefore, 

the economic loss rule does not bar National Union, as

Boeing' s subrogee, from recovering damages in this case
under tort law principles. 

Id. The recent Jackowski decision aligns with Puget Power, adding

difficulty for Defendants' position. A published decision from this

division, Jackowski v. Borchelt, 151 Wash.App. 1, as amended ( II, 2009) 

is binding. In relevant part, Division II states: 

Neither do we believe that the economic loss rule, as

described in Alejandre, abrogates all professional

malpractice claims, particularly where a client hires a
professional and, therefore, establishes a privity of
contract with that professional. We distinguish this

holding from Alejandre, which did not involve a buyer
suing his real estate agent, but rather, suing the seller. 
Alejandre, 159 Wash.2d at 680, 153 P. 3d 864.We are not

willing at this time to expand our Supreme Court' s
holding in Alejandre to preclude all recovery for
economic loss against professional agents, as to do so

would be to abrogate professional malpractice claims

for all cases not involving physical harm. We do not
believe this to be the Alejandre court' s intention. 

28 The Jackowskis cite Alejandre for the proposition that

tort law is not intended to compensate parties for losses

suffered as a result of a breach of duties assumed only by
agreement.'" Br. of Appellant at 23 ( quoting Alejandre, 
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159 Wash.2d at 682, 153 P. 3d 864). They allege that
Hawkins -Poe and Johnson breached statutory and
common law duties, not duties assumed only by
agreement. 

Accordingly, we hold that the trial court erred by
dismissing the Jackowskis' statutory and common law
claims against Hawkins -Poe and Johnson under the

economic loss rule. 

Id., at 14 -15 ( emphasis added). Division I recently cited to Jackowski to

echo its holding in favor of Ms. Hendrickson' s position. 

39 Moreover, as the court in Jackowski recently
recognized, the economic loss rule, which " prohibits

parties from recovering economic losses in tort claims
when the entitlement to recovery comes from the
contract," 151 Wash.App. at 12, 209 P.3d 514 ( citing

Alejandre v. Bull, 159 Wash.2d 674, 682, 153 P. 3d 864

2007)), does not " preclude all recovery for economic
loss against professional agents, as ... [ doing so would] ... 
abrogate professional malpractice claims for all cases

not involving physical harm." 151 Wash.App. at 14, 209

P. 3d 514. Boguch' s claimed right of recovery is not based
on the contract itself. In claiming that the realtors were
negligent, Boguch sought to recover for breach of the

common law and statutory duties they owed to him, not for
the realtors' failure to perform a contractual duty. 

Boguch v. Landover Corp., 2009 WL 4895110 ( I, 2009), at * 11. Prior to

stating its accord with Jackowski, the Boguch court analogized to legal

and medical malpractice claims. Its elucidation is dispositive here: 

11 ¶ 37 Analogies to legal malpractice or medical

malpractice claims are also apt. If an attorney agrees to
draft a will for a client and fails to do so, the client would

be able to claim breach of contract and recover under an

applicable contractual fee provision. " However, if the

13



attorney drafts the will and negligently omits having its
execution properly witnessed, the attorney would be liable
in tort for professional malpractice." G . W. Constr., 70

Wash.App. at 366, 853 P. 2d 484. The same would be true
for a doctor who performs a medical procedure

pursuant to a contract but is negligent in doing so. That
was the underlying situation in Yeager v. Dunnavan, in
which our Supreme Court held that

w] hen an act complained of is a breach of specific terms

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