FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II

2012 AUG 29 PM 1:31

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY   
DEPUTY

No 39767-6-II

---

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

JULIE HENDRICKSON,

*Plaintiff-Petitioner,*

v.

TENDER CARE ANIMAL HOSPITAL CORPORATION, et al.,

*Defendants-Respondents.*

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

**John W. Schedler**  
SCHEDLER BOND PLLC  
2448 76th Ave. SE, Ste 213 | Mercer Island, WA 98040  
Dir Ln 206-550-9831 | Fax 866-580-4853  
Email JOHN@SCHEDLERSCHAMBERS.COM  
WSBA No. 8563

PM 8-28-12

**

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

#### **IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This case first brings into question the scope of the independent tort duty concept created in *Eastwood* and *Affiliated*.

Washington law, both decisional and statutory, recognizes a difference between the measure of damages in tort and contract. Early decisions addressing the former economic loss doctrine, like *Berschauer/ Phillips*, applied the risk of harm analysis to determine whether commercial loss damages may be sought in negligence. The Court should reaffirm the principle that risks implicating the safety of persons or catastrophic damage to other property are within the ambit of negligence, while those risks that implicate no more than commercial expectations are within the ambit of the law of contracts.

This case also brings into question whether a plaintiff can avoid traditional means of redressing their property loss damages with causes of action for professional malpractice and breach of contract simply by

pleading magic words like “reckless”<sup>3</sup> — all to get a bite at the general damages apple.

Precedent aside, sound policy also dictates the outcome. General damages provide no benefit to the injured animal; rather they benefit only individual owners. If general damages are allowed, they would essentially constitute punitive damages, which Washington law clearly disfavors.

## V. ARGUMENT

### a. Standard of Review

The Court reviews summary judgments *de novo*, performing the same inquiry as the trial court. *Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 146 Wash.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002). Summary judgment is proper only when there is no genuine issue about any material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c).

### b. Washington Law Has Correctly Recognized That Contract and Tort Serve Distinct Roles

The Washington Supreme Court (“The Court”) has reaffirmed the wisdom of the common law: contract and tort serve distinct roles in ordering relationships and the claims they spawn. The Court has consistently declared that the boundary between them should be preserved.

---

<sup>3</sup> Petitioner goes to great length in her brief to characterize this conduct as somehow more than professional negligence at its worst; at one point going so far as to suggest it was a criminal act. It must be noted that there has been no jury finding of such and the facts simply do not support it.



The Court noted the distinction between tort and contract damages most recently in *Elcon Constr., Inc. v. Eastern Washington University*, \_ Wn.2d \_, 273 P.3d 965 (2012), referring to the independent duty doctrine as "an analytic tool used by the court to maintain the boundary between torts and contract." *Id* at 969.<sup>4</sup>

(i) Decisions of The Court

In a long line of cases, beginning with *Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987), the Court has maintained the distinction between contract and tort. There, the Court refused to recognize a cause of action for negligent construction against a builder. *Id.* at 417-21. Instead, the Court held that warranty liability governs claims for construction defect. The Court explained that injuries including physical harm invoke "the safety-insurance policy of tort law" which is distinguished from "the expectation-bargain protection policy of warranty law." *Id.* at 421. The Court reaffirmed that principle and the need for a differentiation between damages in tort and contract in *Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Assn. Bd. of Directors v. Blume Development Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 506, 526-27, 799 P.2d 250 (1990).

The Court in *Berschauer/Phillips* recognized the distinction

---

<sup>4</sup> The Court there determined that the independent tort duty analysis did not apply to a fraud in the inducement claim. Both the majority and the concurring opinions agreed the plaintiff failed to establish the elements of fraud or the tort of intentional interference with a contractual relationship.

between the law of contract and tort law as well. There, the general contractor brought an action for negligent misrepresentation against the architect and structural engineer, claiming that their inaccurate and incomplete engineering plans caused the general contractor to spend more money and time to complete the construction project than originally believed. The Court employed a risk of harm analysis in concluding that the economic loss doctrine was necessary to "ensure that the allocation of risk and the determination of potential future liability is based on what the parties bargained for in the contract." 124 Wn.2d at 826. The Court determined to preserve the

fundamental boundary between the law of contracts, which is designed to enforce expectations created by agreement, and the law of torts, which is designed to protect citizens and their property by imposing a duty of reasonable care on others. *Id.*

In more recent economic loss doctrine cases, the ancient distinction between contract and tort damages remains. In *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn.2d 674, 153 P.3d 864 (2007), the purchasers of a home discovered that their house had a defective septic system. They sued the seller of the home claiming that the seller had engaged in fraud and negligent misrepresentation in selling the home with the defective septic system. The Court applied the economic loss doctrine, barring the purchaser's

negligence claim because the purchaser's damage was "more properly remediable only in contract." *Id.* at 681.<sup>5</sup> The Court noted that the fundamental boundaries of tort and contract were important to ensure the allocation of risk of future liability was based on what the parties bargained for; otherwise, certainty and predictability in allocating risk would decrease and impede future business activity. *Id.* at 682. The Court articulated the economic loss rule as follows:

The key inquiry is the nature of the loss and the manner in which it occurs, *i.e.*, are the losses economic losses, with economic losses distinguished from personal injury or injury to *other* property. If the claimed loss is an economic loss, and no exception applies to the economic loss rule, then the parties will be limited to contractual remedies.

*Id.* at 684.<sup>6</sup> (emphasis added)

The Court's adoption of the independent tort duty analysis in *Eastwood* and *Affiliated* was also intended to maintain a line of demarcation between contract and tort damages. In *Affiliated*, the Seattle Monorail caught fire and its operator suffered extensive lost revenues. That company sued the engineering firm that provided maintenance

---

<sup>5</sup> The Court also ruled that plaintiff's fraudulent concealment claim was not precluded by the economic loss rule. *Id.* at 689.

<sup>6</sup> The Court defined economic loss as an injury in a contractual relationship "where the parties could or should have allocated the risk of loss, or had the opportunity to do so." *Id.* at 687. Economic loss occurs when the defendant's action causes the plaintiff to lose money, or something of purely economic value, as opposed to suffering personal injury or injury to other property. *Id.* at 684.

services for the Monorail for negligently causing the fire. In *Eastwood*, the lessor of a ranch brought an action against the lessee for breach of the lease, waste, and negligence in breaching a duty not to cause damage to the leasehold. The Court in both cases held that the tort-based claims were not barred.

In *Eastwood*, the Court held that plaintiff may bring a tort claim where the tort duty is independent of the contract, abandoning the term "economic loss rule" and renamed this rule the "independent duty doctrine." 170 Wn.2d at 393, 402. The Court further explained that "[t]he term 'economic loss rule' has proven to be a misnomer. It gives the impression that this is a rule of general application and any time there is an economic loss, there can never be recovery in tort." *Id.* at 388-89. The *Eastwood* court determined the economic loss rule does not bar a plaintiff from bringing a tort claim simply because the injury is an economic loss and the parties have a contractual relationship. *Id.* The Court explained that in the past, when it has held that the economic loss rule applies, "what we have meant is that considerations of common sense, justice, policy, and precedent in a particular set of circumstances led us to the legal conclusion that the defendant did not owe a duty." *Id.* at 389. As the Court explained, "[a]n injury is remediable in tort if it traces back to the breach of a tort duty arising independently of the terms of the contract." *Id.*

Notwithstanding this transition to the independent tort duty analysis, the Court reiterated its commitment to a line of demarcation between tort and contract recoveries, *Affiliated*, 170 Wn.2d at 451-54, and it expressly did not overrule any of its prior decisions on the economic loss doctrine.

*Affiliated*, 170 Wn.2d at 450 n.3.

Most recently, the Court visited this issue in *Jackowski v. Hawkins*, 278 P.3d 1100 (Wash. 2012). After a landslide damaged their home, the homeowners sued the sellers of the home, seeking rescission or, in the alternative, damages for fraud, fraudulent concealment, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of contract. *Id.* at 1102. The Court held because the duty to not commit fraud is independent of the contract, the independent duty doctrine permits a party to pursue a fraud claim regardless of whether a contract exists. *Id.* at 1109. *See Eastwood*, 170 Wash.2d at 390, 241 P.3d 1256. The same is true for a claim of negligent misrepresentation, but only to the extent the duty to not commit negligent misrepresentation is independent of the contract. *Id.*

(ii) Legislative Policy

In the product liability setting, the Court chose not to apply the former economic loss doctrine in *Berg v. General Motors Corp.*, 87 Wn.2d.584, 555 P.2d 818 (1976)*Berg* permitted a plaintiff to recover in tort for purely commercial loss after a defectively manufactured engine

malfunctioned during a commercial fishing trip. The Legislature, however, overruled *Berg* in 1981 by enacting RCW 7.72.010(6) where it excluded from the definition of harm any direct or consequential economic (commercial) loss under the Uniform Commercial Code. *See also*, RCW 7.72.020(2).

In *Touchet Valley Grain Growers, Inc. v. Opp & Seibold Gen. Const., Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 334, 831 P.2d 724 (1992), the Court analyzed the proper application of RCW 7.72.010(6). There, claims arose from the catastrophic collapse of a grain storage building; the Court concluded the claims met either of two possible tests: the risk of harm test or the sudden and dangerous test, and upheld a tort claim against a truss supplier. More than simply economic loss was involved; catastrophic property damage had occurred and, while not stated, someone could have easily been seriously injured or killed.

Indeed, the Legislature's limitation of mere economic claims arising from product defect to warranty liability under Uniform Commercial Code was one of the solid reasons for the rule adopted in *Berschauer/Phillips* barring negligence theories of recovery of commercial loss claims in construction cases. *Berschauer/Phillips*, 124 Wn.2d at 822. The Court aptly noted it would be incongruent to deprive an unsophisticated consumer a tort recovery under RCW 7.72 where the

product caused only economic loss damages, yet allow a tort recovery to a sophisticated consumer like a general contractor. *Id.* General contractors, owners, developers and design professionals are sophisticated consumers who are privy to the economic risks associated with their business.

Similarly, people who pay for veterinary services are in a small percentage of pet owners who do and are not uneducated. The contract itself is clear and uncomplicated. Ms. Hendrickson does not need more protection than what the law gives the ordinary consumer.

Thus, by legislative policy, commercial loss is not recoverable in tort, but rather must be recovered in contract.<sup>7</sup>

The logic of setting a boundary between contract and tort damages remains true today. The law of negligence is well suited to ensure that injured persons are compensated for their personal injuries or property

---

<sup>7</sup> It is well-recognized in the treatises on torts that tort law traditionally redresses injuries properly classified as physical harm; while, in contrast, contract law protects expectation interests. W. Prosser, *Torts* § 101 at 665 (4th ed. 1971). In the context of product liability, Prosser said:

Where there is no accident, and no physical damage, and the only loss is a pecuniary one, through the loss of the value or use of the thing sold, or the cost of repairing it, the courts had adhered to the rule that purely economic interests are not entitled to protection against mere negligence...

*Id.* at 665. This principle has been recognized in the Third *Restatement of Torts* as well. In the *Restatement of Torts* (3d), Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, physical harm is explicitly a factual predicate to a claim for negligence: "An actor whose negligence is a factual cause of physical harm is subject to liability for any such harm within the scope of liability, unless the court determines that the ordinary duty of reasonable care is inapplicable." *Id.* section 6 at 67.

damages. The law of negligence properly invokes safety-insurance policies to spread the cost of such injuries, often by means of insurance. On the other hand, claims for defeated commercial expectations are best and properly governed by the contracts in which those expectations were created and the risks and benefits were allocated and priced.

(iii) To Maintain a clear Boundary Between Tort and Contract, This Court Should Adopt a Risk of Harm Analysis

The proper focus for the Court in applying the independent tort duty analysis is not the characterization of the cause of action, but the nature of the harm for which redress is sought. Whether the claim advanced by a plaintiff is negligent misrepresentation or tortious interference with a contractual relationship, or breach of contract is less consequential analytically than whether a plaintiff seeks redress for personal injuries and property damages, or commercial loss.

Historically, that is the distinction that has been of moment in drawing the line between contractual and tort damages, as noted by Justice Benjamin Cardozo, then of the New York Court of Appeals, in *MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co.*, 217 N.Y. 382, 111 N.E. 1050 (N.Y. 1916). There, he wrote that the law allows for liability of a manufacturer in tort for personal injuries caused by a Buick automobile's defective wooden wheel without privity of contract. Similarly, *Ultramares v.*



*Touche*, 255 N.Y. 170, 174 N.E. 441 (N.Y. 1931) involved liability in negligence for investment losses. Ultramares was an accountant who prepared a financial statement. He was then sued, not by his client, but by an investor who relied upon his statement. The court rejected the investor's claim for negligence because the accountant owed no duty to third persons to refrain from negligently causing commercial losses.

Justice Roger Traynor, writing for the California Supreme Court, similarly observed the same dichotomy between personal injury and commercial loss. In *Seely v. White Motor*, 63 Cal.2d 9, 403 P.2d 145 (1965), the court held that lost profits in the absence of a personal injury are not recoverable in negligence. The abolition of the rule of privity in product liability law was impelled by "the distinct problem of physical injuries." *Id.* at 15. "Even in actions for negligence, a manufacturer's liability is limited to damages for physical injuries and there is no recovery for economic loss alone." *Id.* at 18.

Thus, the theory of recovery for personal injury should be broad enough to pass the risk of loss to those who are culpable. By contrast, the remedies for commercial loss should be defined by the agreement under which the relationship of the parties is created.

The Court first confronted whether to permit the use of negligence law in resolving construction claims in *Stuart*, and the Court applied a risk

of harm analysis:

In cases such as the present one where only the defective product is damaged, the court should identify whether the particular injury amounts to economic loss or physical damage. In drawing the distinction, the determinative factor should not be the items for which damages are sought, such as repair costs. Rather, the line between tort and contract must be drawn by analyzing interrelated factors such as the nature of the defect, the type of risk, and the manner in which the injury arose. These factors bear directly on whether the safety-insurance policy of tort law or the expectation-bargain protection policy of warranty law is most applicable to the claim in question. 109 Wn.2d at 420-21.

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